

P.O. Box 520, Pensacola, FL 32533

BY-LAWS as adopted at Executive Committee/Board of Director's meeting on 27 April 2025.

PREFACE

These bylaws address Florida High School Athletic Association (FHSAA) soccer referees. Referees wanting to officiate in FHSAA sanctioned games must meet the registration requirements set by FHSAA before he/she officiates.

Article 1 - Name

This organization shall be known as the Pensacola Soccer Referees Association Inc. (PSRA)

Article 2 - Object

This organization is formed as a non-profit organization to promote and advance soccer at all levels as a national competitive sport. PSRA accomplishes this by training and sponsoring competent FHSAA and USSF soccer referees primarily residing in Escambia and Santa Rosa counties of Florida with assistance from additional referees residing in Okaloosa and Walton counties.

Section 1. PSRA develops and maintains a membership consisting of FHSAA and USSF soccer referees whose ethics and integrity are beyond reproach. PSRA member referees are actively engaged each year in officiating at all levels of competition.

Section 2. PSRA fosters a high standard of ethics encouraging fair play, cooperation, support and understanding among referees, athletic directors, coaches, and players of the game.

Section 3. PSRA meets for study and discussion of FHSAA and USSF game rules and approved rulings thereon and interpretations thereof. PSRA provides education, leadership, and training to develop and refine the soccer officiating skills of its members for the mutual benefit of the members, schools, clubs and athletes.

Section 4. PSRA actively recruits, trains, and develops new referees to maintain a quality organization to meet the needs of the area FHSAA and USSF soccer organizations. PSRA does not discriminate based on sex, race, color, creed, religion, national origin, or ethnic background.

<u>Section 5</u>. PSRA supports the community by providing referees that specifically allow youth athletes the opportunity to play the game of soccer. Additionally, PSRA provides scholarship opportunities that support youth athletes continuing education.

Article 3 - Affiliation

PSRA members are certified with FHSAA and/or USSF.

Article 4 - Members

Section 1. Every official residing within the territorial limits, who registered with FHSAA, shall be admitted to membership upon meeting all requirements as set forth by FHSAA and PSRA.

Section 2. PSRA is designated as the primary association for high school soccer referees in Escambia and Santa Rosa counties. PSRA follows the policy and guidelines set forth by the FHSAA for the administration of referees registered with FHSAA as set forth in the FHSAA Officials Guidebook.

<u>Section 3</u>. Voting Members. All members registered with FHSAA and in good standing with FHSAA and PSRA shall have voting rights on all matters brought before the association for a vote.

Section 4. Associate members. Those officials who are not registered with FHSAA shall have voting rights on all matters not pertaining to FHSAA.

Section 5. A membership year shall begin on April 1 and end on March 31 of each year.

Section 6. An application fee, set by a two-thirds vote of the Board of Directors (BOD) and not to exceed twenty-five dollars



P.O. Box 520, Pensacola, FL 32533

(\$25.00), may be required of all new members. The fee shall be returned to the applicant if for some reason the applicant is not accepted. During the board meeting in April, the Treasurer will present PSRA's budget for the upcoming year and address if the fee is required.

Section 7. The annual dues for members may be set by a two-thirds vote of the BOD and shall not exceed thirty-five dollars (\$35.00). During the board meeting in April, the treasurer will present PSRA's budget for the upcoming year and address if the fee is required. Officials that are secondary to PSRA for FHSAA game assignments will pay only \$15.00 per year for their annual dues. Officials with 20 or more years of high school service recognized by FHSAA will have their dues waved. Currently the Arbiter License fee, Lability Insurance coverage, CPA/Tax form completion, and make up most of the cost of dues.

Section 8. An assessment may be levied on every game officiated by PSRA members. This assessment set by a two-thirds vote of the BOD and not to exceed 5 percent (5%), is necessary to ensure an adequate annual operating budget for PSRA. The BOD can approve additional fees to offset costs or shortage of funds associated with administering to PSRA members. The annual budget will highlight expenditures for the membership year.

Section 9. No member of PSRA shall act as a Center Referee or **Assistant** Referee in any game that was not assigned by the official high school assignor. No Center Referee or **Assistant** Referee shall set aside any FHSAA guideline or condition to referee a game. When all conditions to play a match are not met before the scheduled game time, the Center Referee must obtain permission from the President of PSRA, or in his absence, the head of the Assignment Committee, before he/she can officiate the game.

Section 10. The conditions of continued membership in PSRA are applicable to all members alike. They are:

- a. Faithful compliance with these bylaws and all rules and regulations of PSRA and FHSAA.
- b. Timely payment of all dues to PSRA and payment of all fines assessed by FHSAA levied as a result of referee's misconduct.
- c. Maintenance of professional conduct and good standing.
- d. Completion of any requirements levied by the State, or County School system for which PSRA officiates in to include (e.g. badging process, and/or background checks). A current year photo-ID is required for FHSAA assigned games. All officials will provide either an email or other electronic measure to ascertain validity of badge by attachment of badge. The JLA badge is required for all FHSAA games.

<u>Section 11</u>. All referees must notify the game assignor in case of any circumstance that prevents their officiating an assigned game \underline{no} later than 24 hours before the game.

- a. A referee experiencing an emergency after this time shall notify the assignor as soon as possible.
- b. A referee who fails to call the assignor and does not report for a game shall be fined an amount equal to the game fee he/she would have received. In addition, he/she shall be individually liable for all fines assessed by FHSAA.
- c. The referee may be subject to additional penalties.

Section 12. A referee shall not accept an assignment or otherwise officiate an FHSAA sanctioned game for which he/she is not eligible. When such an error occurs, the referee shall contact the assignor and correct the assignment before the game.

- a. If the assignor is not contacted and the referee officiates the game, the referee shall be responsible for all fines levied against PSRA.
- b. Upon proof of a violation, the assignment of the referee may be restricted immediately. The restriction may be lifted only after any fines are paid and any other sanction levied by FHSAA or PSRA is satisfied.

Article 5 - Officers

<u>Section 1</u>. The officers of PSRA oversee the administration of the policies and guidelines set by FHSAA for high school referees. PSRA officers do not administer or provide policy guidance for USSF referees. The officers elected by PSRA members shall be:



P.O. Box 520, Pensacola, FL 32533

- A. President
- B. Vice President
- C. Secretary
- D. Treasurer
- E. Member-at-Large (1)
- F. Member-at-Large (2)
- G. High School Game Assignor (Booking Agent)
- H. Senior Member-at-Large (non voting)

Note: All elected officials shall have the Association's best interest in mind and support the guidance and direction of the President and Vice-President.

<u>Section 2</u>. The officers shall be elected at the annual meeting held in February. A Nominations Committee will be formed to seek candidates to replace those serving officers whose term of office is expiring and present them at a General Meeting for elections.

- a. Term of office for President, Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer and High School Game Assignor shall be for two years. The term of office for Members-at-Large shall be for one year. The term for Senior Member-at-Large shall be for 3 years.
- President and Secretary shall be elected in even numbered years. Vice-President, Treasurer, and High School Game Assignor shall be elected in odd numbered years.

Section 3. To be elected and serve as an officer, a member shall be registered and in good standing with FHSAA.

Section 4. All PSRA officers shall hold office until the end of the term for which they were elected. If, for any reason an officer is unable to complete his/her entire term, his/her term will be filled by a member appointed by majority vote of the BOD. The appointed member shall serve until the end of the original term.

<u>Section 5</u>. No officer shall hold more than one elected office at a time. If an emergency or vacancy occurs during the term of an officer and such office cannot be completed, a Member-At-Large will be required to fill-in and complete the season or term, whichever the BOD approves.

Section 6. Elected officers' term shall begin on April 1 of each year.

Section 7. The Nominating Committee shall provide a slate of candidates at a general meeting in **January** preceding the meeting in **February**. Additional nominations from the membership may be made at this meeting. See Article 8, Section 3, for more information on the Nominating Committee.

Section 8. Election of PSRA officers shall be by **anonymous** ballots from the FHSAA registered voting members in good standing present at the **February** meeting. Ballots shall be counted at that meeting. The count will be accomplished by members in good standing and presented to the President at that meeting for his action. The votes will be counted individually by the members assigned to count the votes and their totals reconciled prior to presentation to the President. Any discrepancies will be resolved prior to presentation to the President. If the discrepancy(ies) cannot be resolved by the original members responsible for vote counting, the President may take any action(s) he/she deems necessary to resolve the discrepancy. **Anonymous** electronic voting (email, twitter, text, etc.) is permissible with the Board of Director's approval.

Section 9. President. The President shall function as Chief Executive Officer of PSRA. He/she shall:

- a. Preside at all meetings of PSRA or the BOD.
- b. Ensure that any policy adopted by PSRA is in full compliance with FHSAA policy.
- c. Be the single point of contact between FHSAA and PSRA unless this authority is delegated to another board member.
- d. Conduct all negotiations on behalf of PSRA.
- e. Make every reasonable effort to further the policies adopted by PSRA.



P.O. Box 520, Pensacola, FL 32533

- f. Develop an agenda before each meeting, with board input.
- g. Authorize reasonable expenditure of up to \$200 of PSRA funds to cover any business transactions when it is impractical to have a meeting of the full BOD. He shall present the expenditures report at the next meeting.

Section 10. Vice-President. The Vice-President shall assume the duties of the President in his absence and shall do other duties as the President may delegate. He/She shall:

- a. Act as Sergeant-at-Arms at all PSRA meetings and ensure the meetings run according to Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised.
- b. Authorize reasonable expenditure of up to \$200 of PSRA funds to cover business transactions when the President is not available and it is impractical to have a meeting of the full BOD.

Section 11. Secretary.

- a. The Secretary shall keep and maintain an accurate list of all PSRA and FHSAA members in good standing. This list shall be updated quarterly.
- b. The Secretary shall keep written minutes of all PSRA meetings and BOD meetings. He/She will send the minutes to the website administrator within 5 days of the date of meeting. The website administrator will upload the document within 2 days of receiving it from the Secretary. The Secretary shall be responsible for sending out notices, preserving records, and have charge of printing, ordering, and stocking all publications required by PSRA. In lieu of website administrator, the secretary may upload minutes to PSRA website.
- c. The Secretary shall receive all applications for membership. He/She shall obtain information on a referee's standing from FHSAA and the prospective referee's previous association. The Secretary shall present the application, with all the information, to the BOD. After the BOD has ruled on the application, he/she shall notify each candidate of his/her selection or rejection. If selected, he/she shall furnish him/her with all the necessary PSRA publications, including the bylaws.
- d. The Secretary shall read the previous meeting minutes at each general meeting if not address/posted online.
- e. The Secretary shall contact all high school referees and inform them of the dates and times of any meetings designated as mandatory for FHSAA referees.
- f. The Secretary shall maintain the list of attendees for each meeting. Provide confirmation of membership requirement to attend meetings as defined in Article 6, Section 6. Attendance summary to be included with meeting notes and posted to PSRA website. And completion of any FHSAA attendance reporting with President concurrence
- g. The Secretary shall support and maintain online systems to include, but not limited to, PSRA's official website (GoDaddy or selected provider), website email addresses, public documentation, reporting financial costs to maintain, and general updates.
- h. The Secretary shall support and perform other duties as may be prescribed by the President, Vice-President, or BOD.

Section 12. Treasurer.

- a. The Treasurer shall prepare billing statements as necessary, collect and have charge of all fees and assessments and place all receipts into one fund within five working days after receipt. He/She shall deposit all funds into a single fund in a bank approved by the BOD.
- b. The Treasurer shall keep an accurate record of all past due accounts and notify the board and the appropriate assignor of any club, school, board, or organization with past due accounts.
- c. The Treasurer shall notify clubs or schools with past due accounts requesting payment as soon as possible.
- d. The Treasurer shall keep and maintain a written record of all business and financial transactions. The Treasurer's Record will



P.O. Box 520, Pensacola, FL 32533

be in the form of an Income Statement showing Revenues and Expenses for the prior Month and Year-to-Date. The Income Statement will be included with meeting notes and posted to PSRA website.

- e. The Treasurer shall ensure all PSRA disbursements are approved by the BOD except as noted in sections 9g and 10b of this article.
- f. The Treasurer shall ensure that the Finance Committee audits PSRA's financial standing annually.
- g. If required, or so ordered by the BOD, the treasurer will arrange to have PSRA's financial records audited by a CPA.
- h. The Treasurer shall utilize an external firm to complete annual tax returns, submit returns to federal/state/local organizations, and budget the expenses.
- The Treasurer shall issue all member and officer 1099's as prescribed by tax law, and budget the systems required to support issuing.

Section 13. Members-at-Large.

- Members at Large shall fairly and equitably represent the best interests of the entire general membership to the BOD at board meetings or member meetings.
- b. Members at Large shall fairly and equitably represent the BOD to the general membership.

Section 14. High School Game Assignor (FHSAA referenced as Booking Agent).

- a. The high school games assignor shall make all regular and post-season assignments in accordance with the guidelines set forth in the FHSAA Officials Guidebook.
- b. The high school assignor shall make every reasonable effort to complete assignments, including review and approval by the assignment committee, at least two weeks before the first play date.
- c. The game assignor shall maintain a service record for each member.
- d. The game assignor shall provide the Treasurer with billing and pay information by the end of each month.
- e. The game assignor shall be paid on a per-game assigned basis. The fee shall be set for high school games by FHSAA, and by PSRA contracted agreements with other non-high school organizations. According to Section 9(d) the PSRA president is responsible for negotiation of contracts. If scheduled games are canceled for whatever reason and not able to be played (made-up), then the game assignor is entitled to assignment/booking fees per negotiated contract agreements.
- f. The game assignor is authorized up to \$25.00 per incident to secure officials at FHSAA games for short-notice day of assignments. This is on a case-by-case approach and a follow-up email (correspondence) will be sent to both PSRA President and Treasure detailing the expenditure.
- g. No other assignment obligations shall take priority over the assignment of high school games.
- h. The game assignor will ensure schedules are posted 18 days prior to scheduled game date. If the game assignor is unable, he/she will notify the PSRA President for possible assistance from alternate game assignor. If game assignments are made, the alternate game assignor is entitled to half of the scheduled fee.

Section 15. Senior Member-at-Large

- a. Senior Member-at-Large should have 12 years of high school service.
- b. This role requires maintenance/reporting of Arbiter (or state mandated official/assignment system) data that includes, but not limited to, security, evaluations, ranking, years of service, JLA dates, training requirements, etc.
- c. This role will support the Evaluation Committee, Assignment Committee, Recommendations Committee, Treasurer,



P.O. Box 520, Pensacola, FL 32533

Assignor, and BoD requests.

Section 16. Officer Stipends

- a. Officer stipends are not meant to be wages, but payments to offset time committed to the position.
- b. Stipends will be income to the officer, and a 1099 issued in per tax law for stipends distributed in the prior year.
- c. Stipends (excluding treasurer) will only be paid in March when the treasurer reports to the BOD in February that PSRA is solvent.
 - Solvency will be defined as having an available balance to cover all budgeted payment between March and October.
 - With BOD approval stipends can be distributed.
- d. President and Vice President stipends will be paid in March
 - President Stipend is \$600.
 - Vice President Stipend is \$200.
- e. Treasurer stipends will be paid in four equal amounts in September, November, January, and March.
 - The treasurer stipend is \$800.
 - MWR stipend based on games assigned.
 - i. Paid end of MWR season

Section 17. Removal from office.

- a. A signed petition must be submitted to the President or Vice-President for consideration and action. A petition signed by a simple majority of FHSAA registered members in good standing shall add the recall matter to the formal agenda of any general meeting.
- b. An officer of this Association may be removed from office for reasonable cause by due process of a special meeting of the BOD, it's internal review and a final vote with a majority ruling.

Article 6 - Meetings

Section 1. The last meeting held in March of each year shall be known as the Annual meeting. This meeting shall be limited to PSRA members in good standing.

Section 2. General meetings shall be held **no less than 6 times during the officiating season** and are open to all members. These meetings shall be arranged so that topics solely related to high school are discussed separately. **In addition to in-person meetings, PSRA will look for opportunities to provide remote or web based virtual meetings to supplement the season.**

Section 3. FHSAA requires all high school referees to attend two mandatory training meetings for high school (PSRA requires a total of four meetings as a minimum). The PSRA BOD shall decide the specific dates for these meetings. The Secretary will be responsible for contacting all high school qualified referees and informing them of the dates and times. Failure to attend at least four meetings may lead to restrictions in assignment to high school games and post season participation.

<u>Section 4</u>. Meetings of the BOD shall be scheduled **no less than 4 times annually** and at other times, as the President or Vice-President shall direct. The President must call a meeting when a majority of the BOD requests such a meeting.

Section 5. Quorum.

- a. A simple majority of the BOD make up a quorum at a BOD meeting.
- b. For any issue presented a quorum shall consist of PSRA members in good standing present at any general or annual meeting. For general meetings, a quorum shall be based on 15% of the previous year's registered members.

Section 6. Meeting Attendance Requirements for Post Season Eligibility

- a. Members shall attend 4 meetings, 2 of which shall be In-Person prior to the end of the calendar year. Necessary to support the State Series Recommendations due in January.
- b. Pre-season game support and training attendance will count as one In-Person meeting.



P.O. Box 520, Pensacola, FL 32533

Article 7 - Board of Directors (BOD)

Section 1. The BOD shall be the officers defined in Article 5, Section 1 of these bylaws.

Section 2. The BOD shall have general supervision of the affairs of PSRA between its general/annual meetings. The board shall be subject to the orders of the simple majority of FHSAA registered referees in good standing on any issue related to high school and a simple majority of the general membership in good standing on all other issues.

Section 3. The PSRA BOD may set policies that apply to the operation of PSRA by simple majority vote.

<u>Section 4</u>. For the purpose of committee involvement, the PSRA BOD will be divided into two groups (Executive and General). The Executive group members will be the President, Vice President, Secretary, and Treasurer. The General group members will be the Assignor(s) and all Members-at-Large.

Section 5. The PSRA BOD, by majority vote, will decide on utilization of member in-person or electronic voting each year for all votes defined in the bylaws or for general purposes. These decisions are communicated to PSRA members within 7 days and documented in meeting notes.

Section 6. The PSRA President will refrain from participating in BOD voting, unless needed to break an existing tie vote.

Article 8 - Committees

Section 1. PSRA members may be appointed by the President, the BOD, or a member in good standing can volunteer to serve on a committee. The President and BOD have the right to approve the membership of all/any committee. Service on any committee is voluntary.

Section 2. FHSAA requires that each local association establish <u>five standing committees</u>. The committees are Evaluation, Assignment, Recommendations, Training and Education, and Grievance committees. Specific tasking for these committees is found in the *FHSAA Officials Guidebook*.

- a. Each committee shall have two to three voting members appointed to it at a minimum.
- b. One member of the committee shall be designated as head or Chair of the committee.
- c. The members of the committee, President, or BOD may designate the head or Chair of any standing or special committee.

Section 3. A special Nominating Committee shall be appointed by the President **prior to** the general meeting held in January of each year. The committee shall serve until the close of the annual meeting in February. The Nominating Committee shall canvass the voting members for a slate of candidates for the positions up for election. The committee shall present its slate at the **January** meeting.

Section 4. A special Finance Committee composed of the Treasurer and two other members shall be appointed by the President. It shall be the duty of this committee to audit annually the PSRA financial records. The committee shall prepare a budget for presentation to PSRA at the April general meeting each year.

Section 5. Other committees, standing or special, may be appointed by the President or a two-thirds vote of the BOD to carry out the work of PSRA.

<u>Section 6</u>. No PSRA executive board member shall be a member of a committee except in an *ex-officio* capacity. He/she shall provide information on PSRA and FHSAA policies regarding the topics of each committee. A PSRA executive board member shall not be *ex-officio* on more than one committee.

Section 7. Committee members generally should not, but may, serve on the same committee two or more years in a row.

Article 9 - Ethics and Grievance Procedure



P.O. Box 520, Pensacola, FL 32533

Section 1. Any member or affiliated body may file a complaint of unethical conduct or conflict of interest against any referee. All complaints must be in writing to the duly authorized head of the Grievance Committee. The Grievance Committee shall investigate the matter to its satisfaction. The committee can either dismiss the charge(s) as unsubstantiated or recommend to the BOD the appropriate discipline as prescribed under the "Table of Penalties" (see Section 5 of this article). The head of the committee shall notify the BOD in writing of the findings and recommended courses of action. The board may accept the findings and recommendations unchanged or may modify them. The board shall approve any penalty by majority vote and the President shall notify the referee in writing of the decision.

Section 2. The BOD will take jurisdiction when a member of the Grievance Committee is the subject of the complaint; or if the Grievance Committee is unable to render a decision within seven working days from the receipt of the complaint; or if the aggrieved party appeals the decision. If the PSRA BOD cannot render a decision or the aggrieved party appeals, FHSAA shall take jurisdiction.

a. If a member of the BOD is subject of the complaint, a special meeting will be held by the BOD to adjudicate, and if necessary, hold a vote and decision will be accepted/rejected by BOD Quorum of any required action.

Section 3. When felt appropriate by the decision-making body having jurisdiction, the member may be temporarily suspended from active FHSAA/PSRA participation during the investigation of the complaint(s) and until a decision is made.

Section 4. All final decisions must be rendered in writing and copies mailed within seven days by certified mail to the parties concerned.

Section 5. TABLE OF PENALTIES. When complaints are sustained, action is to be taken from one, or a combination, of the following:

- a. Letter of reprimand
- b. Suspension from all active participation in FHSAA games/PSRA for a fixed period.
- c. A fine.
- d. Dismissal from FHSAA/PSRA.

The severity of discipline shall be decided by the decision-making body having jurisdiction.

Section 6. Appeals Procedure. A member who receives a penalty under this policy may appeal the penalty providing:

- a. The appeal is done in writing. The appeal must contain not less than five copies of the appeal.
- b. The appeal is received within thirty days of the date of the decision.
- c. He/She makes the appeal to the President of PSRA for consideration by the BOD.

Note: A fee of \$100.00 in a certified cashier's check or money order may be required if an appeal is forwarded to FHSAA.

Article 10 - Parliamentary Authority

The parliamentary authority of PSRA shall be <u>Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised</u> in all cases which are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent with these bylaws and any special rules of order that PSRA may adopt.

Article 11 - Amendment

<u>Section 1</u>. These bylaws may be amended at the annual meeting or any PSRA meeting called for that purpose. A simple majority vote from the quorum of **PSRA** registered members in good standing present at such a meeting to include electronic votes, is required to amend these bylaws.

<u>Section 2</u>. Any member in good standing may propose an amendment to these bylaws. Proposed amendments must have been submitted in writing to the Secretary of PSRA by February 1st to be considered at the annual meeting.



P.O. Box 520, Pensacola, FL 32533

Section 3. These bylaws are to be reviewed every even numbered year or as needed to incorporate required updates or changes.

BY-LAWS as adopted at Executive Committee/Board of Director's meeting on 27 April 2025.

PSRA BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Scott Eckerrod 1A7E1BA6B86B4F6 Scott Eckerrod 5/11/2025 President	Signed by: Allen Cannon 5/11/2025 Vice-President
Signed by: M. Zamran Basharat S3866864843947E Kamran Basharat 5/11/2025 Secretary	Daw Werdung 5383948F02F348D David Werdung 5/11/2025 Treasurer
Mike Walter Mike Walter Mike Walter Member-at-Large (1)	John Brockman John Brockman Assignor (Booking Agent) 5/10/2025
Logan Mercadante Logan Mercadante Member-At-Large (2) Docusigned by: Logan Mercadante 5/10/2025	DocuSigned by: David Docarmo Sr. Member-At-Large